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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

WESTERN DIVISION 

 

DONNA COLVIN,    ) 

      ) 

Plaintiff,    )  Case No. 

      ) 

v.      )  Jury Trial Demanded  

      ) 

PADDLE WHEEL INN, L.L.C.,   )   

CAROL BUSH and JETHNY GRIMES,  )    

     ) 

Defendants.    ) 

 

COMPLAINT 

 Plaintiff Donna Colvin, by her undersigned counsel, brings this action against 

Paddle Wheel Inn, L.L.C., Carol Bush, and Jethny Grimes, and states as follows: 

INTRODUCTION  

1. This is an employment discrimination action brought by Plaintiff Donna 

Colvin (“Plaintiff” or “Colvin”) to redress violations of her rights under the Americans 

with Disabilities Act of 1990 (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101 et seq.  Colvin, an individual 

with multiple respiratory disabilities, worked for four years as a Front Desk Clerk for 

Defendant Paddle Wheel Inn, L.L.C. (“Paddle Wheel Inn”). On November 16, 2011, the 

day after Colvin informed her supervisor that she would need to start using an oxygen 

tank at work, she was fired.  Through this act, Paddle Wheel Inn unlawfully terminated 

Colvin’s employment and unlawfully denied her request for a reasonable 

accommodation. Colvin brings her ADA claim against Paddle Wheel Inn.  

2. This is also a wage and hour action.  Colvin brings a claim under the Fair 

Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. §§ 201 et seq., and the Illinois Minimum 
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Wage Law (“IMWL”), 820 ILCS 105/1 et seq., to recover unpaid overtime wages, as she 

worked in excess of 40 hours per week for Defendants, but was not properly paid 

overtime compensation. Colvin brings this claim against Paddle Wheel Inn, Carol Bush 

(“Bush”), and Jethny Grimes (“Grimes”).  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, in that 

Colvin’s claims involve federal questions arising under the ADA and the FLSA.  

4. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Colvin’s IMWL state law 

claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

5. All conditions precedent to suit have been met, as Colvin filed a timely 

Charge of Discrimination with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 

(“EEOC”) on or about January 23, 2012. A true and correct copy of the EEOC Charge is 

attached as Exhibit A. 

6. On or about July 9, 2013, the EEOC issued Colvin a Notice of Right to 

Sue. The EEOC found reasonable cause to believe that Defendant had violated the ADA.  

A true and correct copy of the EEOC Notice of Right to Sue is attached as Exhibit B.  

7. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because 

Colvin’s claims arose out of acts and transactions that occurred in this District, and 

because all parties reside in this District.    

PARTIES 

8. Colvin resides in the Northern District of Illinois, in Ogle County, Illinois.  

9. Colvin is a former employee of Paddle Wheel Inn. Prior to November 16, 

2011, Colvin worked as a Front Desk Clerk. 
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10. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Colvin was a qualified person with 

a disability within the meaning of Title I of the ADA.  

11. Paddle Wheel Inn is a hotel in Oregon, Illinois.  At all times relevant to 

this Complaint, Paddle Wheel Inn has been an employer within the meaning of the ADA, 

as it has been engaged in an industry affecting commerce and employed 15 or more 

persons.  

12. Likewise, at all times relevant to this Complaint, Paddle Wheel Inn has 

been an employer within the meaning of the FLSA and the IMWL. 

13. Paddle Wheel Inn is a limited liability corporation under the laws of 

Illinois, and maintains a registered agent in the State of Illinois. 

14. Paddle Wheel Inn is an “enterprise” as defined by the FLSA, and 

“engaged in commerce” within the meaning of the FLSA.  

15. Bush is the owner of Paddle Wheel Inn. She has authority to make 

decisions regarding wage and hour classifications and employee compensation.  Bush has 

acted and has responsibility to act on behalf of and in the interest of Paddle Wheel Inn in 

devising, directing, implementing, and supervising the wage and hour practices and 

policies related to its employees.  As such, Bush is an employer within the meaning of the 

FLSA.  

16. Bush is also an “enterprise” within the meaning of the FLSA and 

“engaged in commerce” within the meaning of the FLSA. 

17. Grimes is the General Manager of Paddle Wheel Inn. She has authority to 

make decisions regarding wage and hour classifications and employee compensation.  

Grimes has acted and has responsibility to act on behalf of and in the interest of Paddle 
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Wheel Inn in devising, directing, implementing, and supervising the wage and hour 

practices and policies related to its employees.  As such, Grimes is an employer within 

the meaning of the FLSA.  

18. Grimes is also an “enterprise” within the meaning of the FLSA and 

“engaged in commerce” within the meaning of the FLSA. 

FACTS 

Colvin is a Person with a Disability Under the ADA 

19. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Colvin has had asthma, chronic 

obstructive pulmonary disease (“COPD”), and sleep apnea.  

20. Colvin’s impairments have impacted her to varying degrees during her 

employment with Paddle Wheel Inn.  

21. Prior to August 2011, Colvin frequently experienced tightness in her chest 

and significant difficulty breathing. She controlled these symptoms through the use of an 

inhaler during the day and an oxygen machine at night.  

22. In August 2011, Colvin lost her medical insurance and was unable to pay 

for the medications she relied on to mitigate the effects of her respiratory impairments.  

23. As a result, her conditions worsened, requiring Colvin to be admitted to 

the hospital for short stays in September 2011, October 2011, and November 2011.  

24. During Colvin’s hospital stay in November, 2011, Colvin’s doctors 

informed her that she needed to start using oxygen twenty-four hours per day.  

25. Colvin is a person with a disability under the ADA because she has 

impairments that substantially limit one or more major life activities. Colvin’s asthma, 

COPD, and sleep apnea substantially limit several major life activities including, but not 
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limited to, breathing and sleeping, and the major bodily function of the respiratory 

system. 

26. Colvin is a person with a disability under the ADA because Paddle Wheel 

Inn regarded Colvin as having a respiratory disability.  

27. Colvin is also a person with a disability under the ADA because she has a 

record of having a respiratory disability.   

Colvin’s Employment with Paddle Wheel Inn 

28. Paddle Wheel Inn hired Colvin to work as a Front Desk Clerk on or about 

April 20, 2007, at the wage rate of $8.25 per hour. 

29. The position of Front Desk Clerk is a position that is not exempt from 

federal and state overtime compensation requirements.  

30. As Front Desk Clerk, Colvin’s job duties included answering phones, 

checking guests in and out of the hotel, cleaning assigned areas, conducting night audits, 

washing and folding laundry, interacting in a professional manner with customers, 

preparing the continental breakfast, and mopping the lobby.  

31. Colvin most regularly worked the third shift, also known as the night shift, 

which began at 11:00 p.m. and ended at 7:00 a.m.  

32. Due to the late hour, Colvin interfaced minimally with guests during her 

shift.  

33. Colvin was a valuable employee, and performed her duties well 

throughout her employment.  

34. Colvin never received a negative performance evaluation.  
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35. Colvin’s daughter, Sarah Palomarez, also worked for Paddle Wheel Inn as 

a Front Desk Clerk.  Palomarez regularly worked the second shift.  

36. Due to her respiratory impairments, Colvin was hospitalized for 

approximately three days in September 2011 and four days in October of 2011.  After 

each of these short hospital stays, Colvin remained off of work for a couple of days, and 

then returned to work.    

37. On or about November 14, 2011, Colvin spent one night at the hospital.  

38. During this hospital stay, Colvin’s doctors informed her that she needed to 

start using oxygen twenty-four hours per day.  

39. On November 15, 2011, Colvin contacted Grimes to inform her that she 

would need to use oxygen at work.  

40. In response, Grimes told Colvin that she could not run the front desk while 

using oxygen. 

41. By immediately denying Colvin’s request to work with oxygen, Paddle 

Wheel Inn failed to engage in the interactive process.  

42. Colvin asked Grimes whether she was being terminated, but Grimes did 

not respond.  

43. The next morning, on November 16, 2011, Palomarez sent a text message 

to Grimes asking whether Colvin’s shift was covered.  

44. The same morning, at 11:53 a.m., Grimes responded with the following 

text message: “Yes I have ur moms shifts covered. She is not able to work while on 

oxygen.”  
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45. This text message confirms that, without engaging in any sort of 

interactive process, Paddle Wheel Inn denied Colvin’s request for reasonable 

accommodation.  

46. On the same day, November 16, 2011, Grimes gave Palomarez a letter to 

give to Colvin.  

47. This letter officially terminated Colvin’s employment with Paddle Wheel 

Inn.  

48. Although Grimes had informed both Colvin and Palomarez that Colvin 

could not work while on oxygen, the termination letter stated that Colvin was terminated 

“for not working her scheduled shifts” and because Colvin “was unable to physically do 

what was required of her during her shift.”   

49. This termination letter also references Paddle Wheel Inn’s newly 

established attendance policy. Specifically, Grimes states in her letter that Colvin “signed 

a written warning acknowledging that failure to be able to physically show up and work 

her scheduled shift would result in termination.”  

50. The policy referred to in Grimes’ letter was circulated in a memorandum 

dated October 17, 2011.  Under this policy, employees were required to cover their 

assigned shift or find a replacement.  The first time that an employee violated this policy, 

she would receive a written warning, and the second time, she would be terminated.  

51. Colvin had never received a written warning, as required by Paddle Wheel 

Inn’s newly implemented policy. 

52. Paddle Wheel Inn has no employee handbook outlining employment 

policies and practices. 
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53. Paddle Wheel Inn’s stated reason for Colvin’s termination is contradicted 

by Grimes’ statement to Colvin, the text message sent from Grimes to Palomarez, and the 

temporal proximity between Colvin’s disclosure of her need for oxygen and her 

termination.  

54. Paddle Wheel Inn did not want an employee who appeared to have a 

disability. 

55. Colvin’s use of oxygen would not have prevented her from performing 

any of her job duties.  

56. At the time of her termination, Colvin was earning $8.75 per hour.  

57. During her four year tenure at Paddle Wheel Inn, Colvin regularly worked 

over forty hours per week without receiving the proper overtime compensation.  

58. Paddle Wheel Inn, Bush, and Grimes knew that Colvin performed work 

that required additional wages and overtime compensation to be paid. Defendants’ 

conduct, with respect to the denial of overtime payment, was willful and not in good 

faith.  

59. Following her termination, Colvin applied for unemployment insurance.  

60. Paddle Wheel Inn objected to Colvin’s application. In its response, it 

stated, untruthfully, that “Donnas’ [sic] position is still available at the hotel if she is able 

to work her schedule [sic] shifts and compete her tasks during her shift.”  

61. After Paddle Wheel Inn terminated Colvin’s employment, it never advised 

Colvin that her position was still available.  

62. The day after the EEOC found reasonable cause to believe that Defendant 

had violated the ADA, Paddle Wheel Inn terminated Palomarez’s employment.   
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COUNT I: Violations of the Americans with Disabilities Act 

63. Colvin re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 62 as though fully set forth herein.  

64. The ADA prohibits discrimination by an employer against a qualified 

individual with a disability in the terms and conditions of employment, including 

discharge. 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a); 29 C.F.R. § 1630.4(a).  

65. The ADA requires an employer to provide a reasonable accommodation to 

a qualified individual with a disability to enable her to perform the essential functions of 

her job. 42 U.S.C. § 12112(b)(5); 29 C.F.R. § 1630.9.  

66. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Colvin was a qualified individual 

because she had the skill, experience and expertise to work as a Front Desk Clerk at 

Paddle Wheel Inn, and was able to perform the essential functions of her position with or 

without reasonable accommodation, including the use of oxygen.  

67. Paddle Wheel Inn discriminated against Colvin in violation of the ADA 

when it refused to allow her to work with oxygen as a reasonable accommodation, and 

failed to engage in the interactive process.  

68. Paddle Wheel Inn discriminated against Colvin in violation of the ADA 

when it terminated Colvin’s employment after learning that she would need to wear 

oxygen while on the job.  

69. The above described unlawful employment practices were intentional, and 

Paddle Wheel Inn acted with malice and reckless indifference to Colvin’s federally 

protected rights.  
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70. As a result of Paddle Wheel Inn’s unlawful actions, Colvin has been 

injured. Such injuries include without limitation: lost pay, lost benefits, lost promotion 

opportunity, mental anguish, humiliation, injury to reputation, and pain and suffering.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Donna Colvin requests that this Court: 

A. Award back pay with interest; 

B. Award compensatory and punitive damages;  

C. Award costs, expenses, expert witness fees, and reasonable attorneys’ 

fees; and  

D. Grant such additional relief as the Court deems just and proper.  

COUNT II: Violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act 

71. Colvin re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 70 as though fully set forth herein.  

72. Paddle Wheel Inn, Bush, and Grimes are “employer[s]” as defined by 29 

U.S.C. § 203(d) of the FLSA, “enterprises” as defined by 29 U.S.C. § 203(r) of the 

FLSA, and “engaged in commerce” as defined by 29 U.S.C. § 203(s)(1). 

73. Colvin was properly classified as a non-exempt employee under the 

FLSA.  

74. Under the FLSA, a non-exempt employee must be paid overtime, equal to 

at least one and one half times times the employee’s regular rate of pay, for all hours 

worked in excess of 40 hours per week. 29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1). 

75. Colvin worked in excess of 40 hours per week for Defendants, but was not 

properly paid regular and overtime wages, in violation of the FLSA.  
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76. Through its actions, policies, and practices, Paddle Wheel Inn, Bush, and 

Grimes violated the FLSA by regularly and repeatedly failing to compensate Colvin for 

all actual overtime worked at the proper rate of pay.  

77. Defendants’ actions were willful and not in good faith.  

78. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Colvin 

has suffered a loss of income and other damages.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Donna Colvin requests that this Court: 

A. Award back pay equal to the amount of all unpaid compensation for 

the three (3) years preceding the filing of this Complaint; 

B. Award liquidated damages equal in amount to the unpaid 

compensation found due to Colvin;  

C. Award prejudgment interest with respect to the total amount of unpaid 

compensation;  

D. Award costs, expenses, expert witness fees, and reasonable attorneys’ 

fees; and  

E. Grant such additional relief as the Court deems just and proper.  

COUNT III: Violation of the Illinois Minimum Wage Law 

79. Colvin re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 78 as though fully set forth herein.  

80. Paddle Wheel Inn, Bush, and Grimes are “employers” under the IMWL.  

See 820 ILCS 105 et seq. 

81. Colvin was properly classified as a non-exempt employee under the 

IMWL.  
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82. The IMWL requires employers to pay employees one and one half times 

their regular rate of pay for all hours worked over forty (40) per work week. 820 ILCS 

105/4a(1).  

83. Colvin worked in excess of 40 hours per week for Defendants, but was not 

properly paid regular and overtime wages in violation of the IMWL.  

84. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Colvin 

has suffered a loss of income and other damages.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Donna Colvin requests that this Court: 

A. Award back wages; 

B. Award damages of 2% of the amount of any such underpayment for 

each month following the date of underpayments and other appropriate 

relief pursuant to 820 ILCS 105/12(a); 

C. Award prejudgment interest pursuant to 815 ILCS 205/2; 

D. Award costs, expenses, expert witness fees, and reasonable attorneys’ 

fees; and  

E. Grant such additional relief as the Court deems just and proper.  

 

Dated:  October 3, 2013     

 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

/s/ Rachel M. Weisberg 

Rachel M. Weisberg 

One of the Attorneys for Plaintiff 

 

 

Rachel M. Weisberg 

Barry C. Taylor  

Equip for Equality 

20 North Michigan Avenue, Suite 300 
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Chicago, Illinois 60602 

(312) 895-7319 

rachelw@equipforequality.org  

barryt@equipforequality.org  
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